

# Viruses Infecting Papaya (*Carica papaya* L.): Etiology, Pathogenesis, and Molecular Biology

# Paula F. Tennant<sup>1,2\*</sup> • Gustavo A. Fermin<sup>3</sup> • Marcia E. Roye<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Biotechnology Centre, 2 St. John's Close, University of the West Indies, Mona, Jamaica
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Life Sciences, 4 Anguilla Close, University of the West Indies, Mona, Kingston 7, Jamaica
 <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Sciences, Universidad de Los Andes, Mérida 5101, Mérida, Venezuela

Corresponding author: \* paula.tennant@uwimona.edu.jm

# ABSTRACT

During the last few decades, over 20 plant virus species capable of infecting papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) have emerged in tropical and subtropical regions. The extent and severity of disease symptoms vary widely from minor or unapparent to reduced tree vigor, yield, and impaired fruit quality. Existing data on molecular characteristics of viruses infecting papaya also vary; while phenotypic data are available for the majority, the genotype of many have not been characterized and partial or complete nucleotide sequences have not been determined. As a result, some virus species are classified in recognized taxa while others are tentatively assigned to genera or have not been sufficiently distinguished from viruses in recognized genera so as to form a new genus. This paper presents an overview of the virus species capable of infecting papaya, diseases they elicit, genetic structure and diversity, and factors contributing to their emergence where molecular data are available.

Keywords: Cucumoviruses, Geminiviruses, Ilarviruses, Nepoviruses, papaya, Papaya lethal yellowing virus, Papaya meleira virus, Papaya mild yellow leaf virus, Potexviruses, Potyviruses, Rhabdoviruses, Tobraviruses, Tospoviruses

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
POTYVIRUSES	
RHABDOVIRUSES	
POTEXVIRUSES	
GEMINIVIRUSES	
TOSPOVIRUSES	
NEPOVIRUSES	
ILARVIRUSES	
TOBRAVIRUSES	
CUCUMOVIRUSES	
UNASSIGNED VIRUSES	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

# INTRODUCTION

Papaya (Carica papaya L.) is a large fast growing arborescent herb cultivated for its climacteric, melon-like fruit. It is native to Central and South America and is widely distributed throughout many tropical and subtropical countries (Manshardt 1992). Papayas can usually be found in home gardens intermixed with other fruit trees or in the wild. More recently, organized commercial plantings have been established across various regions in attempts to satisfy growing local and international markets. In 1997, the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) estimated that papaya production accounted for 10% of the volume of the four major tropical fruits (including mangoes, pineapples, and avocados) produced worldwide. Since then papaya production has doubled. About 6.6 million metric tonnes were produced in 2005, with countries of Latin America and the Caribbean accounting for roughly 45% (FAO Statistics 2007). Brazil is the largest producer of papaya, harvesting 1.6 million metric tonnes in 2005. Nigeria followed producing 834,000 metric tonnes in the same year, India with 783,000, Mexico 710,000, Indonesia 647,000, and Ethiopia which produced 259,000 (FAO Statistics 2007).

This increase in demand for papaya, particularly in the Unites States and Europe, is claimed to have been triggered by the new trend in health consciousness. Papaya is rich in vitamin A, vitamin C, potassium, high in crude fiber, and carbohydrates but is low in protein, fats, and calories (Manshardt 1992; Reiger 2006). Apart from being widely produced and marketed as fresh fruit, as a preserve, and for juice, various parts of the fruit and plant have pharmaceutical, medicinal and industrial purposes. Unripe fruit is commonly used to dress wounds (Wimalawansa 1981; Starley *et al.* 1999; Hewitt *et al.* 2000) and to treat insect bites. The latex of green fruit contains proteinases of broad spectrum activity that are employed in the treatment of digestive disorders, in the manufacture of cosmetics, meat tenderizers, and in the clarification of beer (Madrigal *et al.* 1980). Green

fruit is also consumed as salad in Asia (Sankat and Maharaj 1997) but is more commonly processed and used as a condiment and spice. The seeds of papaya are sometimes used as a substitute for pepper, in the treatment for intestinal worms, and for promoting abortions in some regions of the Caribbean and Polynesia (Morton 1987). Papaya bark has generally been regarded as having little value but it was recently shown that it is an efficient biosorbent of heavy metals and has potential in the treatment of wastewater (Saeed *et al.* 2006).

Papaya is an attractive cash crop because it is easy to grow from seed, mature fruits are produced 9 to 12 months after establishment in the field, fruit is produced continuously year round, and little maintenance of plants is required. However, the key to successful production of papaya lies in the countries' post-harvest and transport technology that keep the easily injured fruit in good condition for extended periods, as well as in the prevalence of abiotic and biotic diseases. As with many tropical and subtropical crops, papaya is host to various pests and pathogens. In 1990, Singh reported 4 insect and mite species as major pests of papaya; and a number of bacterial, fungal and viral pathogens also reduce plant vigor and affect the quality of papaya fruits (OECD 2003).

This review focuses on the etiology, pathology, and molecular biology of virus pathogens affecting papaya production over the past 50 years. The first attempt to describe papaya viruses was by Jensen in 1949 and since then a few reviews of some of the viruses have been published (Wan and Conover 1983; Gonsalves 1994; Zettler and Wan 1994; Fermin and Gonsalves 2003; Ventura *et al.* 2004). Viruses belonging to 9 taxonomic groups, 4 tentatively classified species, and 3 unassigned species are reported as etiological agents capable of infecting papaya. Virus-host interactions, climatic conditions, cultural management practices, vector populations, and whether the papaya fruit is destined for local or international markets contribute to the economical importance of the viral pathogen.

# POTYVIRUSES

In 1949, Jensen reported that the first papaya disease attributed to a virus was recognized by Smith in Jamaica in 1929. In his accounts, Smith stated that the virus induced yellowing and mottling of leaves as well as a reduction in the terminal leaves to a pencil point. Smith purported that the primary reason for no large-scale papaya cultivation in Jamaica was due to this viral disease. Similarly in 1937, Stell recommended that commercial cultivation of papaya in Trinidad should not be undertaken due to the prevalence of a mosaic disease of papaya. Acuña and Zayas between 1940 and 1946, described a disease of papaya trees in Cuba referred to as Cotorro mosaic that caused severe distortion of the leaves, and the development of chlorotic and/or puckering patterns in the inter-veinal regions. Lesions were occasionally observed on fruits of these infected trees. In 1946, Adsuar also described a mosaic disease of papaya that was transmissible by mechanical inoculation, grafting, and by Aphis spiraecola in Puerto Rico (Jensen 1949). Similarly, Mueller described a mosaic disease of papaya in Venezuela in 1941. Given the symptomatology in all these instances, it appears that PRSV has been in the Caribbean and Venezuela since the early 1900s before the first description of the prototype virus in Hawaii. PRSV was first noted on Oahu Island, Hawaii in 1945. The virus has since been recognized in many tropical and subtropical areas including South America, Africa (Costa et al. 1969; Purcifull et al. 1984; Diallo et al. 2007), India (Khurana 1975), Mexico (Alvizo and Rojkind 1987), Australia (Thomas and Dodman 1993), Thailand, Taiwan, China, the Philippines (Gonsalves 1994), Japan (Maoka et al. 1995), and more recently, Iran (Pourrahim et al. 2003), Bangladesh (Jain 2004), and the French Polynesia and Cook Islands (Davis et al. 2005).

PRSV is the most damaging virus pathogen to papaya. Losses incurred by PRSV range from decreased acreage

under production, reduction in employment, sporadic production, and significant decrease in fruits for local markets and losses in foreign exchange for countries involved in supplying the international market. Losses of up to 70% (Barbosa and Paguio 1982) and 100% (Dahal et al. 1979) have been reported in some regions. In Jamaica, production of papaya was down by 40% between 1994 and 1998, resulting in a loss of some US\$ 11 million per annum (pers. comm. Jamaica Papaya Growers' Association). In Venezuela, PRSV was brought to national attention in 1993 when papaya orchards were decimated in the Lake Maracaibo basin and later incidents were observed in almost all orchards across the country (Vegas et al. 2004). Production of papaya virtually came to a halt in the 1950s in Hawaii due to the spread of PRSV in the major growing regions of Oahu island, Hawaii. This resulted in a relocation of the industry in the early 1960s to the Puna District on the Hawaii Island. However by 1992, PRSV was discovered in Puna which by then grew 95% of Hawaii's papaya and by 1994, PRSV was widespread in Puna (Gonsalves 1998). By 1988, Taiwan was no longer capable of exporting papaya to Hong Kong and Japan given the spread and destruction of most of the commercial plantings since 1978 (Wang et al. 1978; Yeh et al. 1988). The domestic supply of papaya is insufficient on Thailand where papaya is an important subsistence crop after rice in Northeastern territories (Prasartee et al. 1995).

The disease induced by PRSV causes stunting of papaya trees and drastically reduces the quality of fruits and vield (Purcifull et al. 1984). In initial stages of infection, plants develop mottle patterns on the leaves, followed by severe leaf distortion and reduction similar to damage caused by mites. Some strains such as those in Taiwan induce symptoms of wilting along with mosaic (Chang 1979). In later stages of infection, oily streaks develop on petioles and stems and the diagnostic water-soaked ringspot blemishes on fruits (Gonsalves 1994). Virus particles are generally detected in the cytoplasm and cell vacuoles of all parts of the host plant. Amorphous inclusion bodies (Martelli and Russo 1976) and pinwheel inclusions (Purcifull and Edwardson 1967) are generally found consisting of a 51 kD (de Meija *et al.* 1985) and 70 kD protein (Yeh and Gon-salves 1984), respectively. Trees of all ages are susceptible to PRSV and generally express symptoms 2-3 weeks following inoculation. Trees that become infected with the virus shortly after planting do not produce fruit. Symptom expression is highly influenced by environmental conditions and is more severe during periods of cool temperatures (Gonsalves 1994).

Two serologically indistinguishable biotypes of PRSV have been described. Type P is pathogenic to papaya while type W (previously designated as *Watermelon mosaic virus* 1) is pathogenic to cucurbits. Other hosts of PRSV belong to the family *Chenopodiacae*. PRSV induces local lesions on *Chenopodium quinoa* and *C. amaranticolor* (Purcifull *et al.* 1984). Recent work with recombinant severe and mild type P strains from Hawaii showed that mutations in the C-terminal portion of two virus proteins (P1 and HC-Pro) were critical in determining the hypersensitive response in *C. quinoa* and systemic infection in papaya (Chiang *et al.* 2007).

PRSV is sap transmissible and is vectored by 23 aphid species (Hemiptera, *Aphididae*) in a non-persistent manner (Purcifull *et al.* 1984). Depending on the number of winged aphids, a papaya orchard can become totally infected in 3-4 months after introduction of the virus. However, papaya is not a preferred host of aphids and acquisition and transmission of the virus occur during the brief superficial probing when aphids test the suitability of papaya as a feeding host. Studies with other potyviruses have shown that helper factors are required for transmission and retention of the virus on the aphid stylet. The current hypothesis is that the nonstructural protein HC-Pro forms a bridge between the D-A-G motif on the N-terminus of the virus coat protein and a putative receptor in the aphid mouthparts (Pirone and Blanc 1996). It is widely accepted that PRSV is not seed-borne (Purcifull *et al.* 1984). However, seed transmission was demonstrated in a study conducted in the Philippines in 1990. Two of 1355 seedlings (0.15%) from fruit of an infected tree were reported to develop symptoms of PRSV 6 weeks after emergence (Bayot *et al.* 1990). Presence of PRSV was subsequently confirmed by ELISA, aphid transmission and indicator host assays with *C. quinoa*. Further studies on seed transmissibility of PRSV have not been reported to date.

Spread of PRSV in the field is presumably accomplished from papaya to papaya, and cucurbit hosts play a minor role. Only one incident of field transmission from papaya to cucurbits has been documented in an experimental trial (Persley 1998 in Bateson *et al.* 2002). However, the list of cucurbits acting as hosts for PRSV type P is growing (Magdalita *et al.* 1990; Ferwerda-Licha and Pingel 2003; Noa-Carrazana *et al.* 2006; Chin *et al.* 2007a). Given the widespread distribution and their potential of serving as a reservoir of PRSV type P, cucurbit hosts most likely play a role in the epidemiology of PRSV and deserve more attention.

PRSV is a flexuous rod-shaped virus built with single coat protein subunits and measures approximately 760-800 nm in length and 12 nm in diameter. Much of the characterization of PRSV was done with the PRSV HA strain out of Hawaii. The strain has been completely sequenced (NC 001785, Yeh et al. 1992). PRSV is classified as a Potyvirus in the family Potyviridae. Its monopartite genomic positive sense RNA consists of 10,326 nucleotides with a 5' genome-linked protein (VPg) and a 3' poly (A) tract (Yeh et al. 1992). Like other potyviruses, the genetic organization is VPg - 5' nontranslated region, 63 K P1, 52 K helper component (HC)-proteinase (HC-Pro), 46 K P3, 72 K cylindrical inclusion (CI), 6 K, 48 K nuclear inclusion a (NIa), 59 K nuclear inclusion b (NIb), 35 K coat protein (CP), 3' noncoding region, and poly (A) tract. PRSV RNA codes for a single polypeptide species which is cleaved into functional proteins by the autocatalytic activity of virally encoded proteinases (Yeh and Gonsalves 1984). Studies with PRSV HA have postulated two cleavage sites for the N terminus of the CP; an upper site at positions 3,034 to 3,042 (Yeh et al. 1992) resulting in a functional polymerase protein (NIb, 517 aa) and the lower site some 20 aa downstream for an aphid transmissible coat protein (35 K). Based on work with other potyviruses, the roles of the functional proteins include: CP for RNA encapsidation; NIb, NIa, P1, HC-Pro, and CI for genome amplification; NIa, P1, HC-Pro for polyprotein processing; CP and CI for cell-to-cell move-ment; CP, HC-Pro and VPg for long distance movement; and HC-Pro and CP for aphid transmission (Riechmann et al. 1992; Shulka et al. 1994; Revers et al. 1999). More recently, HC-Pro has been implicated as a pathogenicity enhancer by disrupting host defense responses (Vance et al. 1995; Pruss et al. 1997; Shi et al. 1997). Both initiation and maintenance phases of RNA silencing can be targeted for suppression in somatic tissues (Anandalakshmi et al. 1998; Brigneti et al. 1998; Kasschau and Carrington 1998). In addition, P3 appears to be involved in virus replication and pathogenicity when associated with CI (Mandahar 1999; Urcuqui-Inchima et al. 2001).

Since the early reports on PRSV HA, complete sequences of type P isolates from Taiwan (X97251, Wang and Yeh 1997), Thailand (AY162218), India (EF017707, Parameswani *et al.* 2007), China (EF183499), and Mexico (AY 231130, Noa-Carrazana *et al.* 2007) have been elucidated. Comparative analysis of the polyprotein of biotypes from Hawaii (S46722 type P), Taiwan (X97251 type P and AY 027810 type W), Thailand (AY162218 type P and AY 010722 type W) and Mexico (AY231130 type P) gave two clades (Noa-Carrazana *et al.* 2007). One cluster included the type P isolates from Hawaii and Mexico and the second cluster contained the Asian isolates. The most conserved proteins were CI, NIb and HC-Pro while the most variable proteins were P1, P3, 6 K and CP. Three biotype specific aa differences were observed in P1 and NIa proteins. While

type P isolates have a proline residue in position 200 in the P1 protein, type W isolates have a serine residue. The other two differences were noted in positions 2,309 and 2,487 in the NIa protein. Lysine and aspartic acid were detected at position 2,309 in type P and type W isolates, respectively. Isoleucine and valine were detected at position 2,487 in type P and type W isolates, respectively.

Researchers in many regions such as Australia (Bateson et al. 1994), Brazil (Lima et al. 2002), Hawaii (Wang and Yeh 1992), India (Jain et al. 2004), Mexico (Silva-Rosales et al. 2000; Noa-Carrazana et al. 2006), Thailand, Vietnam, the Philippines (Bateson et al. 2002), Jamaica, and Venezuela (Chin et al. 2007b) have examined the molecular characteristics of PRSV type P through sequence analysis of the cp gene of isolates differing in geographical origin within the country. In general, patterns between geographic origin and diversity are evident based on the country of origin rather than the locations within the country from which the isolates were collected. However, the converse is true; in that variation between isolates within a country have been observed in India, Mexico, Jamaica, and Venezuela. Type P isolates from India, on the other hand, were reported to be divergent up to 11%. In their analysis, Jain et al. (2004) concluded that the population consisted of a mixed population with defined sub-populations which were the result of movement and mixing of isolates. The diversity was attributed to the wide range of cropping systems and cultivation practices of farmers across the geographical regions of India and not to the geographical origin of the isolates across the country (Jain et al. 1998). Recent analysis of isolates from Mexico suggests clear patterns between sequence variability and the location from which the isolates were collected in the country (Noa-Carrazana et al. 2006). Greater diversity between isolates was observed with PRSV isolates from regions of higher economic development. Increased exchange of genetic resources and movement of plant materials were associated with the degree of variation. Similarly, patterns of isolate diversity, time of collection, and origin of isolates within the country were found in Venezuela (Chin et al. 2007b). These patterns are presumably being driven by introductions, geographical isolation and disease management strategies. Analysis of virus populations of Venezuelan isolates collected in 1993 and later in 2004 revealed greater diversity among populations collected in 2004. In general, isolates originating close to the borders of the neighboring highland Andean states were more closely related. However, isolates from Zulia, Mérida and Trujillo, from these same regions but separated by geographical (high peaks between Mérida and Trujillo and arid zones surrounding Mérida) and agricultural barriers (huge extensions of plantain plantations in Zulia) were less related. Analysis of type P isolates from Jamaica in 1990 and in 1999 showed that the latter isolates were very similar but diverged up to 8% from the isolate collected during the earlier epidemic in 1990 (Chin et al. 2007b).

Comparative analysis of *cp* gene sequences of isolates from differing geographical locations indicate variation up to 15.9% and clustering of the isolates according to geographic origin (Bateson et al. 1994; Wang et al. 1994). That is, the isolates from the Caribbean cluster with those of the United States and Australia; Asian isolates group together and although the Indian isolates are within the latter group, they appear to share a closer relationship with each other. Isolates from Sri Lanka group separately. The Caribbean isolates share similarities of 92.5 to 95.9% with isolates from the United States and Australia but lower similarities of 84.9 to 89.8% with those from Asia. Differences with PRSV isolates as with potyviruses in general (Riechmann et al. 1992; Silva-Rosales et al. 2002; Jain et al. 2004) are scattered throughout the cp sequences, but most polymorphisms are located within the 5'-proximal quarter of the gene and the identity increases towards the 3' end. Moreover, not all nt substitutions lead to aa substitutions.

Mutation, in addition to movement of PRSV, appears to be significant in the molecular evolution of PRSV. Strong evidence supports the hypothesis that type P isolates arose through mutation from type W isolates. Sequence analysis of the cp genes of type P and W populations in Australia showed tight clustering of the isolates and high nt identity of 98% (Bateson et al. 1994). Similar observations were noted in analyses of biotypes from Thailand where type P isolates diverged from a common branch within a diverse background of type W isolates, Vietnam (Bateson et al. 2002), Brazil (Lima et al. 2002), and India (Jain et al. 1998). However, the type P and type W isolates from these countries are not as closely related (93 to 96.6%) as those reported from Australia. Recent in silico recombination analyses with complete sequences of PRSV genomes from Hawaii, Mexico, Taiwan, and Thailand, provide evidence of putative recombination regions in the P1 protein (Noa-Carrazana et al. 2007). Sites of recombination were also observed in 6 cistrons (HC-Pro, P3, CI, NIa, NIb, CP, except 6 K) and the 2 untranslated regions but more consistent results were obtained with P1. Recombination has been shown to contribute to sequence diversity in potyviruses (Garcia-Arenal et al. 2001) and may be linked to host adaptation (Valli et al. 2007). Evidence of interspecific recombination was observed in comparative analysis of the P1 of Watermelon mosaic virus (WMV), Soybean mosaic virus (SMV), and Bean common mosaic virus (BCMNV). The N terminal half of WMV P1 showed no relation to that of SMV but was 85% identical to BCMV (Desbiez and Lecoq 2004). Similarly analysis of the P1 of the NL-3K strain of Bean common mosaic virus (BCMNV) from the United States (Idaho) suggests that the strain is a recombinant between the NL-3 D (Drifjhout) strain and the Russian strain RU1 (Larsen et al. 2005). Since PRSV types P and W share cucurbit hosts, it is conceivable that recombination, in addition to mutation, is involved in the derivation of type P from type W. No field data on recombination in PRSV are available.

Other early reports in the 1970s document a virus species from Puerto Rico that shares some biological characteristics that are very similar to those of PRSV. Papaya trees infected with the virus, named Papaw isabela mosaic virus, exhibited typical PRSV symptoms that included yellow mottling, some mild leaf distortion, and oily spots on the stem. However, the occurrence of diagnostic ringspot blemishes on fruits was not mentioned. Infection of 5 cucurbit genera, *Cucumis, Luffa, Citrullus, Lagenaria* and *Melothria*, was demonstrated. Neither mechanical nor seed transmission in papaya was documented but rather transmission by the nematode, *Trichodorus christiei* (Adsuar 1972). Until now, serological or molecular evidence supporting the biological data and classification of this virus as a *Potyvirus* has not been provided.

Another virus of papaya that is tentatively classified as a Potyvirus is the Papaya leaf distortion mosaic virus (PLDMV). PLDMV was first identified on the island of Okinawa, Japan, in 1954. Given the mosaic symptoms on foliage, ringspot blemishes on fruits, and the detection of flexuous virus particles, the virus was initially considered PRSV (Yonaha 1976; Kawano and Yonaha 1992). However, it was not found serologically related to PRSV and was subsequently named after the papaya host and the leaf symptoms (Kawano and Yonaha 1992). Later between 1990 and 1995, three strains of PLDMV were described based on differing symptomatology on papaya field trees in Japan; leaf distortion mosaic (PLDMV-P (LDM), mosaic (PLDMV-P (M), and yellow mosaic (PLDMV-P (YM) (Maoka and Hataya 2005). PLDMV is transmitted by aphids in a nonpersistent manner (Maoka et al. 1995; Maoka and Hataya 2005). Low (33%) rates of transmission were observed with the green peach aphid Myzus persicae and PLDMV-P 56. Higher rates between 78 and 100% were obtained with the same species and the 3 strains, PLDMV-P (LDM), PLDMV-P (M), and PLDMV-P (YM) (Maoka and Hataya 2005).

Molecular characterization of the cp sequences of PLDMV-P 56 was conducted in the late 1990s. Comparative sequence analysis of these cp sequences and PRSV type P indicated aa identity of up 57% (Maoka *et al.* 1996);

thus corroborating the initial finding that the two viruses are serologically unrelated. The complete genome of PLDMV-P (LDM) (AB088221) and *cp* sequences of the two other type P, PLDMV-P (M) and PLDMV-P (YM) have been reported (AB092814 and AB092815, respectively). *cp* sequences (AB092816) of a cucurbit biotype PLDMV-C (T) have also been determined. PLDMV-C (T) is capable of infecting *Cucumis melo*, *Cucurbita moschata*, *Lagenaria siceraria*, and *Nicotiana benthamiana* but unable to infect papaya and is serologically indistinguishable from PLDMV-P (Maoka and Hataya 2005).

The RNA genome of PLDMV-P(LDM) consists of 10,153 nts and is the fourth largest reported genome of the Potyvirus genus, after Sweet potato feathery mottle virus, Onion yellow dwarf virus and PRSV. The genome codes for a single large ORF of 3,269 aa. Highly conserved aa motifs reported for potyviruses are present in PLDMV with some substitutions. Namely, (1) H<sub>388</sub>-X<sub>8</sub>-D<sub>397</sub>-X<sub>32</sub>-G<sub>429</sub>-X-S<sub>431</sub>-G432 involved in proteinase activity in P1, (2) in HC-Pro, the zinc finger metal binding motif C-X<sub>8</sub>-C-X<sub>13</sub>-C-X<sub>4</sub>-C, and C-C-C-V-T, K-I-T-C, P-T-K implicated in long distance movement and aphid transmission, respectively, (3) G<sub>1423</sub>-X-X-G<sub>1426</sub>-X-G<sub>1428</sub>-K-S-T<sub>1431</sub> motif of a nucleotide phosphate binding site involving helicase activity (4) S-G-X<sub>3</sub>-T-X<sub>3</sub>-N-T-X<sub>30</sub>-G-D-D found in NIb and characteristic of positive sense stranded viral RNA dependent RNA polymerases, and (5) D-A-G motif in the N-terminus of the CP that contributes to aphid transmissibility. The PLDMV polyprotein shares 44 to 50% identity with that of other potyviruses. The cp sequences of the type P isolates were 95 to 98% identical but share lower identities of 88 to 89% with the cucurbit biotype (Maoka and Hataya 2005). In addition to Japan, outbreaks of PLDMV-P have been reported in Saipan in the Northern Mariana Islands (Kiritani and Su 1999) and Taiwan (Chen et al. 2000). PLDMV-P from Taiwan shares 95% identity with the virus from Japan.

Recently, the Moroccan watermelon mosaic virus (MWMV), a tentative member of the genus Potyvirus and etiological agent of severe epidemics in cucurbit crops in Africa and the Mediterranean basin (van der Meer and Garnett 1987; Quiot-Douine et al. 1990; Roggero et al. 1998; Lecoq et al. 2001), was detected in papaya orchards of the Democratic Republic of Congo (Arocha et al. 2007). Infected trees exhibited foliar and fruit symptoms typical of PRSV. Unlike PRSV-infections however, tumor-like growths were observed within the trunk of these trees. In the initial stages of infection the internal tissues of the trunk were pink and over time the tissues turned brown or black and fibrous. Samples from the infected trees were found positive for potyvirus in enzyme linked immunosorbent (ELISA) assays but they were negative in similar tests for the detection of PRSV. Amplicons of the expected size (1639 bp) were obtained in reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) with primers designed to part of the NIb gene, the entire cp and 3' nontranslated region of MWMV (AF305545, Lecoq *et al.* 2001). The amplicons were sequenced (EF211959) and share 84% nt and 93% aa identity with MWMV (Arocha et al. 2007).

Occurrences of *Zucchini yellow mosaic virus* (ZYMV) along with PRSV and the rickettsias responsible for papaya bunchy top disease were recently reported in Puerto Rico. Field samples collected from papaya trees showing signs of bunchy top and viral infection were tested for the pathogen of bunchy top and for PRSV and ZYMV in ELISA. Of the 43 samples analyzed, most were positive for bunchy top while 34% were positive for PRSV and 53% for ZYMV (Fewerda-Licha 2002). ZYMV is a common devastating virus of cucurbits that is transmitted by several aphid species in a non-persistent manner (Lisa and Lecoq 1984). The ZYMV strain from papaya has not yet been characterized.

#### RHABDOVIRUSES

Three putative rhabdoviruses are described as pathogens of papaya in tropical and subtropical regions; *Papaya apical* 

*necrosis virus, Papaya droopy necrosis virus, and Lettuce necrotic yellows virus.* Of these, only two are purported to induce apical necrosis and plant death in papaya.

Papaya apical necrosis virus (PANV) was first reported in Venezuela in 1981 (Lastra and Quintero 1981). The virus has since been recorded in other regions in Venezuela (Marys et al. 2000), Cuba (Mejías et al. 1987), Mexico (Noé-Becerra et al. 1999), Brazil (Kitajima et al. 1991) and in some parts of Africa (Taylor 2004). Infections with PANV are characterized by initial yellowing of the plant followed by wilting of younger leaves and necrosis of the plant apex. Bacilliform viral particles ( $80-84 \times 210-230$  nm) are mainly found in parenchyma cells of the plant phloem. PANV is transmitted by the leafhopper, *Empoasca papayae*, but mechanical transmission has not been demonstrated (Lastra and Quintero 1981). Although the incidence of PANV is low, outbreaks of PANV have limited the production of papaya in some regions, such as the state of Zulia in Venezuela, during the late 1970's (Zettler and Wan 1994).

A similar rhabdovirus was reported in Florida in 1981 (Wan and Conover 1981). The virus, currently known as Papaya droopy necrosis virus (PDNV), is still found in Florida (Wan and Conover 1983; Zettler and Wan 1994). Both PDNV and PANV share common features in particle morphology and the apical necrosis and plant death symptoms induced on papaya, but progress of the disease induced by both viruses differs. Plants infected with PANV initially show yellowing and wilting of the leaves followed by necrosis of the apical parts of the plants whereas plants infected with PNDV exhibit drooping and curvature of the leaves and shortened petioles. As the disease advances, there is the development of a bunchy appearance of the plant crown; leaves eventually abscise, the stem tip becomes necrotic and the plant dies. Like PANV, PDNV is not mechanically transmissible. However, no natural vector for PDNV has been identified.

It should be noted that in a recent review on rhabdoviruses, PANV was referred to as an unassigned member of the genus (Jackson *et al.* 2005) but PNDV was not mentioned. Moreover, another rhabdovirus that can be transmitted to papaya seedlings by the aphid *Hyperomyzus* is *Lettuce necrotic yellows virus* (LNYV, Francki *et al.* 1989). Infection with LNYV is latent since no visible symptoms are observed following inoculation (Harding and Teakle 1993). In addition, rhabdovirus-like particles were found in samples collected from Distrito Federal, Venezuela, during a survey of the major papaya growing regions of Venezuela in 1997 (Marys *et al.* 2000). The virus was not characterized further.

# POTEXVIRUSES

Papaya is host to the Potexvirus, Papaya mosaic virus (PapMV) of the family Flexiviridae. The virus was initially reported in Florida in the 1960s (Conover 1962) and later in Venezuela, Sri Lanka (Rajapakse and Herath 1981), India (Bhaskar 1983), Peru, Bolivia (Brunt et al. 1996) and Mexico (Noa-Carrazana and Silva-Rosales 2001). Recently, mixed infections with both PapMV and PRSV were reported in Mexico (Noa-Carrazana et al. 2006). Synonyms of PapMV include Babaco yellow mosaic virus, Boussingaultia mosaic virus (Phillips et al. 1985), and Papaw mild mosaic virus. Argentine plantago virus (Gracia et al. 1983; Milne 1988) and Plantago severe mottle virus (Rowhani and Peterson 1980; Gracia et al. 1983; Milne 1988) are reported strains. In addition to papaya, PapMV can infect members of 5 plant families; namely, Amaranthaceae, Basellaceae, Chenopodiacease, Leguminosae-Caesalpinioideae and Scrophulariaceae. Recently, a Potexvirus related to PapMV was isolated from moss rose (Potulaca grandiflora, Portulacaceae), a succulent ornamental, in Italy (Ciaffo and Turina 2004).

Infection with PapMV causes mosaic discolorations on foliage and stunting of papaya trees. However, in co-infections with PRSV, trees exhibit apical necrosis, leaf distortions, mottling, and mosaic (Noa-Carrazana *et al.* 2006). Flexuous virus particles (530 nm) can be found in all parts of the infected plant. Cellular inclusion bodies composed of virus particles have also been observed in cells (Purcifull *et al.* 1966; Zettler *et al.* 1968). The virus is transmitted in nature by mechanical contact but no invertebrate vector is known. Seed transmission has not been reported.

Molecular characterization of PapMV was conducted early in the 1980s with an isolate presumably from Asia. PapMV is a single stranded positive sense RNA virus of 6,656 nt. The RNA has a methylguanosine cap at the 5' end while the 3' has a poly (A) tail (AbouHaidar and Bancroft 1978; AbouHaidar 1988). The complete genome of the virus was reported in 1989 (D13957, Sit *et al.* 1989). Like other potexviruses, PapMV encodes 5 ORFs (Sit et al. 1989). Based on work with other potexviruses, the first ORF encodes the replicase, the next 3 overlapping ORFs (referred to as the triple gene block, TGB) encode proteins required for cell to cell movement along with the CP (Santa Cruz et al. 1998; Verchot-Lubicz 2005), and the final ORF encodes the CP (Santa Cruz et al. 1998). ORF 1 is translated from the genomic PapMV RNA while the overlapping ORFs and the CP are translated from 2 separate subgenomic RNAs (AbouHaidar and Gellatly 1999). Studies with Potato virus X demonstrated the role of one of the TGB proteins (TGBp1) as a pathogenicity enhancer. TGBp1 acts as a suppressor of RNA silencing by regulating the accumulation of 25 nt siRNA (short interfering RNA) which is the signaling factor in systemic silencing (Voinnet et al. 2000). In comparative analysis of cp sequences, the early PapMV isolates (D00240, D13957, Sit et al. 1989) are 98.4% identical to an isolate recently reported from China (EF183500, Shen Tang, Lu Niu, and Zhou 2006 unpublished). The early isolates however share lower identities of 72.7 to 73.8% with three isolates from Mexico (AY017186, AY017187, AY017188, Noa-Carrazana et al. 2001). The Mexican isolates were col-lected from papaya (AY017186) and pumpkin (AY017187, AY017188) and are 91.1% identical.

# GEMINIVIRUSES

Several begomoviruses of the family Geminiviridae are associated with papaya in China, India, Pakistan, Taiwan, Jamaica and some countries in Central America. The begomoviruses associated with papaya are distinct species and most consist of a monopartite genome organization unlike most begomoviruses which have a bipartitie genome. The single stranded genome occurs as a covalently closed circular DNA molecule of approximately 2.5-3.0 kb that is housed in a geminate isometric icosahedral capsid ( $18 \times 20$ nm) constructed with 27-30 kD protein subunits (Howarth and Goodman 1982; Lazarowitz 1992; Zhang et al. 2001). All genes encoding proteins for replication, transcription, encapsidation and movement are on the single DNA component of the monopartite begomoviruses or the two DNA components of the bipartitie begomoviruses (Lazarowitz 1992). A region of about 200 bp, the intergenic region (IR) which is analogous to the common region (CR) in bipartite begomoviruses, has conserved motifs critical for virus genome replication and transcription (Argüello-Astorga et al. 1994). Recently three categories of novel satellite-like ssDNA molecules (DNA-1, DNAβ and defective interfering DNA) have been found associated with the DNA of some monopartite begomoviruses. These satellite molecules generally consist of a circular DNA molecule of about half the size (1.3 kb) of its associated viral DNA component. DNA $\beta$ , and not DNA-1, appears to influence symptom expression and viral replication but both require the helper virus for transmission and movement in the host plant (Briddon et al. 2004).

Two monopartite begomoviruses, *Papaya leaf curl China virus* (PaLCuCNV, AJ558122) and *Papaya leaf curl Guangdong virus* (PaLCuGDV, AJ558123), are associated with papaya leaf curl disease in the south of China. Infected papaya plants show downward leaf curling and vein thickening but more severely affected plants develop twisted petioles and exhibit stunting. Invariably, infected trees produce distorted fruits; resulting in farmers abandoning diseased orchards. DNA sequence analysis indicates that PaLCuCNV and PaLCuGDV are only 73.4% similar and are more similar to several begomoviruses from the region including *Ageratum yellow vein China virus* (AYVCNV-[Hn2], AJ495813) and *Ageratum yellow vein virus* (AYVV, X74516) (Wang *et al.* 2004). PaLCuCNV was also recently isolated from a common roadside weed *Corchoropsis timentosa* in the Guangxi province of China. *C. timentosa* showed leaf curling, vein thickening and yellow vein symptoms. The presence of the virus in a common weed is likely to facilitate increased transmission of PaLCuCNV through-out Southern China (Huang and Zhou 2006a).

A similar papaya leaf curl disease has been known for more than 60 years in India (Saxena et al. 1997). However, between 1993 and 1996, there was an increase in the incidence of the disease. The causal agent was transmitted between papaya plants by the whitefly Bemisia tabaci and this suggested the possible occurrence of a begomovirus (Saxena et al. 1998). Symptoms of the Indian begomovirus on papaya are similar to those observed with the two begomoviruses in China. In addition to downward leaf curling, vein thickening and clearing symptoms, the leaves of affected plants are also rubbery and fragile and the petioles are distorted. Fruits from infected plants are reduced in number and never develop to full maturity, often falling from trees (Saxena et al. 1997). The causal agent of papaya leaf curl disease in India was identified as Papaya leaf curl virus (PaLCuV). The complete nucleotide sequence of PaLCuV (Y15934) suggests a monopartite begomovirus genome organization. PaLCuV was also detected in cotton in the Faisalabad region of Pakistan. Infected cotton plants developed leaf curling, vein swelling, vein darkening and leaf enations (Mansoor *et al.* 2003). The two papaya bego-moviruses from China, PaLCuCNV and PaLCuGDV, were distinct from and only 67 to 68% similar to PaLCuV (Wang et al. 2004). PaLCuV is more similar (88 to 86%) to several begomoviruses from the surrounding region including Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus isolate ToLCNDV-CTM (DQ629102), several isolates of Chili leaf curl Pakistan virus (DQ116877 DQ116878, DQ114477), and Pepper leaf curl Bangladesh virus (AF314531). This suggests a common evolutionary origin of some of the viruses on the Indian subcontinent. The close nucleotide similarity between PaLCuV and ToLCNDV might explain the isolation of the cp of ToLCNDV (EF194275) from papaya plants from Lucknow, India. ToLCNDV has a surprisingly broad host range and has caused severe economic losses to several crops on the Indian subcontinent. It is capable of infecting tomato (Padidam et al. 1995), potato (Usharani et al. 2004), chili pepper (Khan et al. 2006), and sponge gourd (Luffa cvlindrical, Sohrab et al. 2003) in India, tomato, chili pepper (Shih et al. 2003; Hussain et al. 2004) and watermelon (Mansoor et al. 2000) in Pakistan, and tomato in Bangladesh (Maruthi et al. 2005).

There are also preliminary reports of geminiviruses associated with papaya in Taiwan and Jamaica. Infected papaya plants from Taiwan exhibit identical symptoms as PaLCuV-infected plants in India and the virus was presumed to be an isolate of PaLCuV. Amplicons were obtained in PCR analysis, using primers designed from the sequence of PaLCuV, and DNA extracted from infected plants in Taiwan. But partial nucleotide sequences of the cp gene (774 nt) of the Taiwan isolate (AY183472) were shown to be only 80% similar to PaLCuV. This suggested that the Indian and Taiwanese papaya viruses are likely to represent distinct begomovirus species (Chang et al. 2003; Mayo and Pringle 1998). Further analysis of the cp gene of the Taiwan virus indicated that it is highly conserved (85 to 97%) among several viruses from China including Malvastrum leaf curl virus (MLCV, AJ971253), PaLCuCNV, and PaLCuGDV. MLCV was isolated from papaya plants, showing leaf curl symptoms, from Guangxi Province China in

2005 (Wu and Zhou 2006). MLCV was first isolated from the common weed *Malvastrum coromandelianum* that was collected from the same region in China. Predominant symptoms on these plants included leaf curling and vein thickening. The satellite DNA component DNA $\beta$  about half the size of the DNA of MLCV was also found associated with infected *M. coromandelianum* (Huang and Zhou 2006b).

The partial DNA-A sequence of a presumed bipartite begomovirus was isolated from papaya plants with yellow mosaic symptoms in Jamaica (Roye *et al.* 2003). Nucleotide sequence analysis of 1300 nts which represented the 5' portion of the replication associated protein, the cp and the entire CR of the Jamaican papaya virus suggested the presence of a distinct begomovirus. The Jamaican papaya virus is most similar to several previously reported begomoviruses from the region including Jatropha mosaic virus (JMV, AF324410), Wissadula golden mosaic virus (WGMV, U69280) both weed-infecting begomoviruses from Jamaica and *Tobacco leaf rugose virus* (AJ488768) from Cuba (Roye et al. 1997; Roye et al. 2006). DNA hybridization and PCR using degenerate primers detected the papaya virus in the eastern parish of St. Thomas and the central parishes of St. Catherine and Clarendon in Jamaica (Rojas et al. 1993; Roye et al. 2003). Attempts at amplifying a DNA-B component were unsuccessful but analysis of the genome organization of the partial DNA-A suggested a bipartite genome organization. Simultaneous occurrences of the virus and PRSV were also found in trees exhibiting symptoms typical of PRSV infection. Currently the papaya begomovirus does not seem to be a threat to papaya production in Jamaica.

Other begomoviruses in the GenBank database that can infect papaya include, *Papaya golden mosaic virus* (DQ318928) from Yucatan in Mexico, *Lindernia anagallis yellow vein virus* (DQ022658) in China and *Melon chlorotic leaf curl virus*, MCLCuV-[CR] (AY064391) in Costa Rica. MCLCuV-[GT] (AF325497) is also associated with muskmelon (*Cucumis melo*) in Guatemala and induces foliar chlorosis, leaf curling and reduced fruit set (Brown *et al.* 2001).

# TOSPOVIRUSES

So far, the only reported tospovirus capable of infecting and causing symptoms in papaya is Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV; general description in Kormelink 2005). TSWV was first described in Hawaii in the mid 1980s by Gonsalves and Trujillo (1986), following an earlier report of a disease infecting papaya orchards in 1962 in Kauai. In their report, Gonsalves and Trujillo (1986) described the mechanical transmission of TSWV from lettuce to papaya seedlings. In similar greenhouse investigations, Harding and Teakle (1993) inoculated papaya seedlings with leaf sap extracts from TSWV-infected tomato in Australia. Two to three weeks after inoculation, plants exhibited irregular, necrotic lesions and chlorotic mottling on challenged leaves and after another 2 weeks similar symptoms also developed on the older, un-inoculated leaves. Although isometric TSWV particles were recovered from symptomatic papaya plants, the virus titer was low. Eventually, the apical parts of the plants became necrotic, and 7 to 9 weeks later the plants died. Additional evidence for TSWV-infection of papava has been described in Brazil. Local reactions accompanied with systemic movement of virus through the plants were observed following experimental inoculations (Rezende and Costa 1987). In papaya orchards, the TSWV disease is characterized by spotting, chlorosis and necrosis of the leaves at the apex of the plant. As infection progresses, watersoaked lesions appear on petioles and stems. Surviving plants produce deformed and unmarketable fruits and plant death is not unusual (Gonsalves and Trujillo 1986). Similar disease symptoms have been described in Australia. In 1993, Harding and Teakle reported on the development of water soaked lesions as well as stunting of TSWV-infected plants in Australian fields. A recent update on the host range of TSWV confirms the initial findings that papaya is host to

TSWV (Parrella *et al.* 2003). TSWV was first discovered on tomatoes in 1919 and is now known to infect over 900 different plants of 70 botanical families. The virus is hosted by common weed species and is vectored by the well known thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, in a circulative, propagative manner (Bautista *et al.* 1995). Molecular data on the virus from papaya are not available.

# **NEPOVIRUSES**

Tobacco ringspot virus (TRSV), a Nepovirus of the family Comoviridae (Stace-Smith 1985), was shown to be the causal agent of terminal necrosis in experimental inoculations of papaya conducted by McLean and Olson in 1962 and later by Lambe in 1963 in back inoculations from orchard affected plants to healthy papaya seedlings. Biological evidence of TRSV was also provided in simultaneous experiments involving leaf sap inoculations from infected papaya plants to cucumber and cowpea seedlings (Lambe 1963). Yellow stippling developed on cucumber leaves and necrotic spots on cowpea leaves. Later in 1993, transmission and subsequent infection with TRSV from Gladiolus sp. to papaya were demonstrated (Harding and Teakle 1993). In these experiments, 74% (25 out 34) of the challenged plants showed ringspot blemishes on the old uninoculated leaves 3-4 weeks after inoculation. The leaves later became necrotic and plants exhibited severe stunting and bending. Field plants infected with TRSV quickly develop wilting symptoms 7 days after exposure to the virus followed by apical necrosis of the terminal growing point. By day 8, necrosis of the terminal leaves and tissues at the base of female blossoms was evident. Root symptoms typically occurred during the advanced stages of the disease and included discoloration, and eventually, rotting. Although TRSV is a cosmopolitan virus (Smith 2004), sporadic infections of papaya have solely been reported in Australia, the United States, and Nigeria (Lana 1980).

## **ILARVIRUSES**

Experimental infection of papaya with *Tobacco streak virus* (TSV, general description in Scott 2001) was described in 1993. This is the only virus belonging to the *llarvirus* group that is reported to infect and cause symptoms on papaya plants. Harding and Teakle (1993) mechanically inoculated 15 papaya seedlings with sap from TSV-infected *Gomphocarpus physocarpus*. Three papaya plants displayed mild mottling on newly emerged leaves 3 weeks following inoculation. However, indicator *Nicotiana tabacum* plants that were back-inoculated from symptomatic and ELISA-positive TSV-infected papaya plants did not develop symptoms.

# TOBRAVIRUSES

There is only one report on tobraviruses capable of infecting papaya under experimental conditions. Rezende and Costa, in 1987, demonstrated infection of greenhouse papaya plants with the tobraviruses *Pepper ringspot virus* (PepRSV, described in Robinson and Harrison 1989) and *Tobacco rattle virus* (TRV, described in Robinson 2003). Local infections were obtained following mechanical inoculations with either virus. Systemic infection was not observed.

## **CUCUMOVIRUSES**

Evidence of local infection of papaya with *Cucumber mosaic virus* or CMV (Palukaitis and García-Arenal 2003) was documented on two occasions; in the 1950s and later in 1987. Adsuar in 1956 showed that papaya plants are susceptible to mechanical infection with CMV. In 1987, Rezende and Costa reported that papaya plants mechanically challenged with CMV developed local lesions on inoculated leaves.

# **UNASSIGNED VIRUSES**

Three unassigned virus species capable of infecting papaya in South America have been reported in recent years. For two of the viruses, *Papaya lethal yellowing virus* (PLYV) and *Papaya meleira virus* (PMeV), complete molecular data are not yet available. The third virus, *Papaya mild yellow leaf virus* (PMYLV), appears to possess unique structural, biological, and molecular features. Some molecular data have been determined. However, the virus has not been sufficiently distinguished from viruses in recognized genera so as to form a new genus.

Papaya lethal yellowing virus (PLYV), the etiological agent of lethal yellow disease of papaya, was reported in Brazil in the early 1980s. Sporadic occurrence of the disease is generally typical in Brazil but incidence of up to 40% has been documented (Loreto et al. 1983). Co-infections of PLYV and PRSV have been reported in Venezuela (Marys et al. 2000). Symptoms of infection caused by PLYV start with yellowing of young leaves on the plant's crown and later progresses to severe curling deformation and senescence of leaves, small chlorotic blemishes on fruits, and eventually death. Vasconcellea cauliflora, which is also a member of the Caricaceae family, is susceptible to mechanical inoculations with PLYV (Amaral et al. 2006). PLYV is readily transmitted on the surface of seeds isolated from infected fruits (Camarco et al. 1998) but virus has not been detected within the embryos of seeds (Saraiva et al. 2006). PLYV can also persist in the soil and this allows for infections of plants early in the growing season (Camarco et al. 1998). Transmission by contaminated hands was re-cently shown (Saraiva et al. 2006). So far, PLYV has only been characterized in Brazil. The virus consists of isometric particles 30 nm in diameter with a single stranded RNA molecule and a capsid protein ca 35 kDa. Initial evidence based on particle morphology, genetic composition, CP size, and sequence homology to *Tomato bushy stunt virus* (TBSV), proposed the classification of PLYV as a member of the Tombusvirus group (Silva et al. 1997). However, subsequent data suggest that the species belongs to the Sobemovirus group of plant viruses, family Sobemoviridae (Silva 2001 in Amaral et al. 2006).

Another economically important virus only reported in Brazil is *Papaya meleira virus* (PMeV). PeMV is the causal agent of sticky disease in papaya. The virus was first reported in the 1980s (Nakagawa *et al.* 1987; Correa *et al.* 1988 in Maciel-Zambolim *et al.* 2003) and since then research has been focused on the elucidation of the biological features of this novel virus. Molecular evidence is still lacking to definitively assign PMeV to a plant virus group.

First symptoms of the PMeV disease appear on the margins of young leaves which turn necrotic and curl. Necrosis has been attributed to the exudation of translucent and low viscous latex that is not characteristic of the latex produced by healthy plants. This exudation of latex is later observed on fruits which eventually display a "honeyed" appearance. It is from this feature that the name of the disease was derived (i.e., meleira). Discolored pale-green rings can also appear on the surface of fruits. The latter symptoms together with the exuded latex render fruits unmarketable. Based on indicator host range studies, PMeV appears to be limited to the plant host papaya. More than 47 plants were challenged with preparations of PMeV. However, plants of one genus other than Carica were infected. Double stranded RNA was recovered from papaya and Brachiara decumbens (a synomyn of Uroloa decumbens, a common signal grass) but no symptoms developed. Apart from mechanical transmission, PMeV appears to be transmitted by latex in nature (Maciel-Zambolim et al. 2003; Pessini-Rodrigues 2006). The natural vector has not been determined. However, PMeV can be transmitted by two genera of whiteflies, Bemisia tabaci and Trialeurodes variabilis, under controlled conditions (Culik and Martins 2004; Pessini-Rodrigues 2006)

The third unassigned virus species infecting papaya is

*Papaya mild yellow leaf virus* (PMYLV). PMYLV is the only reported supercoiled filamentous virus infecting dicotyledoneous plants (Marys *et al.* 1995). PMYLV disease is characterized by foliar symptoms of mild inter-veinal yellowing of young and adult leaves without a reduction in leaf area and stunting of the plant. The virus is apparently ubiquitous in Venezuelan papaya orchards since the mid 1990s and shares some similarity to members of the *Tenuivirus* group.

The main biological, structural, and serological features of PMYLV available so far include: (1) the host range seems to be restricted to species belonging to the families Caricaceae (C. papaya) and Cucurbitaceae (Cucumis sativus, C. metuliferus, C. melo, Cucurbita maxima and C. pepo). While mild interveinal yellowing is evident 20 to 25 days following mechanical inoculation of papaya, cucurbits mainly exhibit symptoms of mild mottling within 15 days, (2) virus particles aggregate often as crystalline arrays only in xylem tissue (3) viral preparations contain filamentous particles, made up of a single 39 kD protein component, are 400 to 700 nm long and 3 nm wide and the nucleic acid is composed of a single stranded RNA molecule, and (4) purified virus or extracts from infected leaves only react to homologous antibodies and do not react with antibodies raised against five different Tenuiviruses (Marys et al. 1995). Given the many disparities with Tenuiviruses, it was concluded that PMYLV probably represents a member of a new virus group.

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Since the identification of the first virus infecting papaya in the early 1900s, a number of other species belonging to few genera have been described. These viruses can be grouped into four general categories based on their history with the crop, whether they cause disease of economic importance, and the existing biological and genotypic characterization. PRSV belongs to the first category. It has a long history with papaya production, is the most widespread destructive virus infecting papaya and subsequently the most characterized virus. PRSV is the subject of numerous studies on disease management strategies including cross protection (Yeh and Gonsalves 1984; Yeh et al. 1988; Tennant et al. 1994), conventional breeding of tolerant and resistant cultivars (Conover et al. 1986; Prasartsee et al. 1995; Magdalita et al. 1996, 1997, 1998; Story 2002; Gonsalves et al. 2005; Drew et al. 2006a, 2006b), and more recently genetic engineering (Gonsalves 1998, 2002; Lines et al. 2002; Bau et al. 2003; Fermin et al. 2004; Davis and Ying 2004; Tennant et al 2005; Umi et al. 2005). PapMV and PLDMV belong in a second category. Like PRSV, PapMV and PLDMV have a long history with papaya production and data on some genotypes are available. In addition, PapMV has been the subject of studies on the requirements for virion assembly (Tremblay et al. 2007) and as an expression vector for the development of animal virus vaccines (Raja and AbouHaidar 2006). Unlike PRSV, PapMV and PLDV are not as widespread and can be considered of local significance.

Although viruses in the third category are classified in recognized genera, they are known as etiological agents of important diseases in other major crops and ornamentals. These viruses were recently detected for the first time in papaya between 1980s and 2000s during experimental inoculations of indicator host plants conducted for the determination of etiological agents of various diseases. Apart from geminiviruses of papaya, the species isolated from papaya have not been further studied and molecular data are not available. They are, in general, of little significance to papaya production and include members of the genera Tospovirus, Nepovirus, Ilarvirus, Tobravirus, and Cucumovirus. Other recently described viruses can be grouped in a fourth category. These virus species are attracting increasing attention and hold economic potential. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization is ongoing and classification is tenuous. PLYV and PMeV are in this category. Of note, many of

the viruses affecting papaya fall in the latter two categories. They have received little attention and hence molecular evidence is lacking to describe them thoroughly. Much still needs to be learnt about the viruses infecting papaya. A complete catalogue will not be available until partial or complete virus sequences of nucleic acids isolated from infected papaya plants are reported or a more thorough epidemiological analysis is performed.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank our colleagues and all members of our research group, past and present, for their contributions. In particular we are grateful to Professors Dennis Gonsalves and Douglas Maxell who stimulated our interest in the area and have directly influenced our efforts over the years. Support for work in our laboratories was received from FONACIT-Venezuela (G-9700634), The Principal's New Initiative Program University of the West Indies Mona, The School of Graduate Studies and Research University of the West Indies Mona, the Jamaica Agricultural Development Foundation and the Third World Academy of Sciences.

## REFERENCES

- AbouHaidar M, Bancroft J (1978) The structure of the 5' terminus of Papaya mosaic virus RNA. Journal of General Virology 39, 559-563
- AbouHaidar MG (1988) Nucleotide sequence of the capsid protein gene and 3' non-coding region of *Papaya mosaic virus* RNA. Journal of General Virology 69, 219-226
- AbouHaidar MG, Gellatly D (1999) Potexviruses. In: Granoff A, Webster RG (Eds) Encyclopedia of Virology, Academic Press, San Diego, pp 1364-1368
- Adsuar J (1956) Transmission of Cucumber mosaic (Cucumber virus 9) found in Puerto Rico to Carica papaya. Journal of Agriculture - University of Puerto Rico 40, 125-126
- Adsuar J (1972) A new virus of papaya (*Carica papaya*) in Puerto Rico. Journal of Agriculture of the University of Puerto Rico 56, 397-401
- Alvizo HF, Rojkind C (1987) Resistencia al virus mancha anular del papayo en Carica cauliflora. Revista Mexicana de Fitopatología 5, 61-62
- Amaral PP, Resende RO, Teixeira-Souza Jr. M (2006) Papaya Lethal Yellowing Virus (PLYV) infects Vasconcellea cauliflora. Fitopatologia Brasileira 31, 517
- Anandalakshmi R, Pruss GJ, Ge X, Marathe R, Mallory AC, Smith TH, Vance VB (1998) A viral suppressor of gene silencing in plants. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences USA 95, 13079-13084
- Argüello-Astorga GR, Guevara-Gonzalez RG, Herrera-Estrella LR, Rivera-Bustamante RF (1994) Geminivirus replication origins have a groupspecific organization of iterative elements: A model for replication. *Virology* 203, 90-100
- Arocha Y, Vigheri N, Nkoy-Florent B, Bakwanamaha K, Bolomphety B, Kasongo M, Betts P, Monger WA, Harju V, Mumford RA, Jones P (2007) First report of the identification of *Moroccan watermelon mosaic virus* in papaya in Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC). New Disease reports. *Plant Pathology* http://www.bspp.org.uk/ndr/july2007/2007-09.asp
- Barbosa FR, Paguio OR (1982) Vírus da mancha anelar do mamoeiro: Incidência e efeito na produção do mamoeiro (*Carica papaya L.*). *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 7, 365-373 (in Portuguese)
- Bateson M, Henderson J, Chaleeprom W, Gibbs A, Dale J (1994) Papaya ringspot potyvirus: isolate variability and the origin of PRSV type P (Australia). Journal of General Virology 75, 3547-3553
- Bateson M, Lines R, Revill R, Chaleeprom W, Ha C, Gibbs A, Dale J (2002) On the evolution and molecular epidemiology of the potyvirus *Papaya ringspot virus*. *Journal of General Virology* **83**, 2575-2585
- Bau H-J, Cheng Y-H, Yu T-A, Yang J-S, Yeh S-D (2003) Broad-spectrum resistance to different geographic strains of *Papaya ringspot virus* in coat protein transgenic papaya. *Phytopathology* 93, 112-120
- Bautista RC, Mau RFL, Cho JJ, Custer PM (1995) Potential of Tomato spotted wilt tospovirus plant hosts in Hawaii as virus reservoirs for transmission by Frankliniella occidentalis. Phytopathology 85, 953-958
- Bayot RG, Villegas VN, Magdalita PM, Jovellana MD, Espino TM, Exconde SB (1990) Seed transmissibility of *Papaya ringspot virus*. *Philippines Journal of Crop Science* **15**, 107-111
- Bhaskar RB (1983) Confirmation of the etiology of Papaya mosaic virus. Indian Journal of Agricultural Science 53, 479-481
- Briddon RW, Bull SE, Amin I, Mansoor S, Bedford ID, Rishi N, Siwatch SS, Zafar Y, Abdel-Salam AM, Markham PG (2004) Diversity of DNA 1: A satellite-like molecule associated with monopartite begomovirus-DNA β complexes. *Virology* **324**, 462-474
- Brigneti G, Voinnet O, Li WX, Ji LH, Ding SW, Baulcombe DC (1998) Viral pathogenicity determinants are suppressors of transgene silencing in *Nicoti*ana benthamiana. The EMBO Journal 17, 6739-6746
- Brown JK, Idris AM, Rogan D (2001) Melon chlorotic leaf curl virus, a new

begomovirus associated with *Bemisia tabaci* infestations in Guatemala. *Plant Disease* **85**, 1027

- Brunt A, Crabtree K, Dallwitz M, Gibbs A, Watson L (1996) Papaya mosaic potexvirus. Viruses of Plants: Descriptions and Lists from the VIDE Database. CAB International, UK, 5 pp
- Camarço RFEA, Lima JAA, Pio-Ribeiro G (1998) Transmissão e presença em solo do "Papaya lethal yellowing virus". *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 4, 453-458 (in Portuguese)
- Chang CA (1979) Isolation and comparison of two isolates of Papaya ringspot virus in Taiwan. Journal of Agricultural Research in China 28, 207-216
- Chang LS, Hung TH, Lee YS, Su HJ (2003) First report of Papaya leaf curl virus infecting papaya plants in Taiwan. Plant Disease 87, 204
- Chen LF, Bau HJ, Yeh SD (2000) Identification of virus capable of breaking transgenic resistance of papaya conferred by the coat protein gene of *Papaya ringspot virus*. In: Abstracts of International Symposium on Tropical and Subtropical Fruits. Griffith University, Queensland, pp 51-52
- Chiang CH, Lee CY, Wang CH, Jan FJ, Lin SS, Chen TC, Raja JAJ, Yeh SD (2007) Genetic analysis of an attenuated *Papaya ringspot virus* strain applied for cross protection. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 118, 333-348
- Chin M, Ahmad MH, Tennant P (2007a) Momordica charantia is a weed host reservoir for Papaya ringspot virus type P in Jamaica. Plant Disease 91, 1518
- Chin M, Rojas Y, Moret J, Fermin G, Tennant P, Gonsalves D (2007b) Varying genetic diversity of *Papaya ringspot virus* isolates from two time-separated outbreaks in Jamaica and Venezuela. *Archives of Virology* **152**, 2101-2106
- Ciuffo M, Turina M (2004) A potexvirus related to Papaya mosaic virus isolated from moss rose (Portulaca grandiflora) in Italy. Plant Pathology 53, 515
- **Conover RA** (1962) Virus diseases of the papaya in Florida. *Phytopathology* **52**, 6
- **Conover RA, Litz RE, Malo SE** (1986) 'Cariflora' a *Papaya ringspot virus*tolerant papaya for south Florida and the Caribbean. *HortScience* **21**, 1072
- Costa AS, de Carvalho AM, Kamada S (1969) Constatado o mosaico do mamoeiro em São Paulo. O Agronômico 21, 38-43 (in Portuguese)
- Culik MP, Martins D (2004) First record of *Trialeurodes variabilis* (Quaintance) (Hemiptera:Aleyrodidae) on *Carica papaya* L. in the State of Espírito Santo, Brazil. *Neotropical Entomology* 33, 659-660
- Dahal G, Lecoq H, Albrechtsen SE (1997) Occurrences of Papaya ringspot potyvirus and cucurbit viruses in Nepal. Annals of Applied Biology 130, 491-502
- Davis MJ, Ying Z (2004) Development of papaya breeding lines with transgenic resistance to *Papaya ringspot virus*. *Plant Disease* **88**, 352-358
- Davis RI, Mu L, Maireroa N, Wigmore WJ, Grisoni M, Bateson MF, Thomas JE (2005) First records of papaya strain of *Papaya ringspot virus* (PRSV-P) in French Polynesia and the Cook Islands. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 34, 125-126
- De Meija MVG, Hiebert E, Purcifull DE, Thornbury DW (1985) Isolation and partial characterization of the amorphous cytoplasmic inclusions associated with infections caused by two potyviruses. *Virology* **142**, 24-33
- Desbiez C, Lecoq H (2004) The nucleotide sequence of Watermelon mosaic virus (WMV, Potyvirus) reveals interspecific recombination between two related potyviruses in the 5' part of the genome. Archives of Virology 149, 1619-1632
- Diallo HA, Monger W, Kouassi N, Yoro DT, Jones P (2007) First report of Papaya ringspot virus infecting papaya in Cote d'Ivoire. Plant Pathology 56, 718
- Drew RA, Siar SV, O'Brien CM, Magdalita PM, Sajise AGC (2006a) Breeding for Papaya ringspot virus resistance in Carica papaya via hybridization with Vasconcellea quercifolia. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 46, 413-418
- Drew RA, Siar, SV, O'Brien CM, Sajise AGC (2006b) Progress in backcrossing between *Carica papaya x Vasconcellea quercifolia* intergenic hybrids and *C. papaya. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* **46**, 419-424

FAO Statistics (2007) Production. Available online: http://www.faostat.org

- Fermin G, Gonsalves D (2003) Papaya: Engineering resistance against Papaya ringspot virus by native, chimeric and synthetic transgenes In: Loebenstein G, Thottapilly G (Eds) Virus and Virus-Like Diseases of Major Crops in Developing Countries, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 497-518
- Fermin G, Inglessis V, Garboza C, Rangel S, Dagert M (2004) Engineered resistance against *Papaya ringspot virus* in Venezuelan transgenic papayas. *Plant Disease* 88, 516-522
- Ferwerda-Licha M, Pingel RL (2003) Ongoing survey on the incidence of *Papaya ringspot virus* in weeds found in a papaya field in northern Puerto Rico. *Phytopathology* **93**, 525
- Fewerda-Licha M (2002) Mixed infection of Papaya ringspot virus, Zucchini yellow mosaic virus and papaya bunchy top affecting papaya (Carica papaya L.) in Puerto Rico. Phytopathology 92, S25
- Francki RIB, Randles JW, Dietzgen RG (1989) Lettuce necrotic yellows virus. In: CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses, no. 343, Wageningen University, The Netherlands, 5 pp

Garcia-Arenal F, Fraile A, Malpica JM (2001) Variability and genetic struc-

ture of plant virus populations. Annual Review of Phytopathology 39, 157-186

- Gonsalves D (1994) Papaya ringspot virus. In: Ploetz RC, Zentmyer GA, Nishijima WT, Rohrbach KG, Ohr HD (Eds) Compendium of Tropical Fruit Diseases, APS Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 67-68
- Gonsalves D (1998) Control of Papaya ringspot virus in papaya: A case study. Annual Review of Phytopathology 36, 415-437
- Gonsalves D (2002) Coat protein transgenic papaya: "Acquired" immunity for controlling papaya ringspot virus. Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 266, 73-83
- Gonsalves D, Trujillo E (1986) Tomato spotted wilt virus in papaya and detection of the virus by ELISA. *Plant Disease* 70, 501-506
- Gonsalves D, Vegas A, Prasartsee V, Drew R, Suzuki J, Tripathi S (2005) Developing papaya to control *Papaya ringspot virus* by transgenic resistance, intergeneric hybridization, and tolerance breeding. In: Janick J (Ed) *Plant Breeding Reviews* 26, 35-73
- Gracia O, Koenig R, Lesemann DE (1983) Properties and classification of a Potexvirus isolated from three plant species in Argentina. Phytopathology 73, 1488-1492
- Harding RM, Teakle, DS (1993) Failure of five viruses to cause typical Australian papaw dieback disease. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 22, 62-67
- Hewitt HH, Whittle S, Lopez SA, Bailey EY, Weaver SR (2000) Topical uses of papaya in chronic skin ulcer therapy in Jamaica. *West Indian Medical Journal* 49, 32-33
- Howarth AJ, Goodman RM (1982) Plant viruses with genomes of singlestranded DNA. Trends in Biochemical Science 7, 180-182
- Huang JF, Zhou XP (2006a) First report of Payapa leaf curl China virus infecting Corchoropsis timentosa in China. Plant Pathology 55, 291
- Huang JF, Zhou XP (2006b) Molecular characterization of two distinct begomoviruses from Ageratum conyzoides and Malvastrum coromandelianum in China. Journal of Phytopathology 154, 648-653
- Hussain M, Mansoor S, Iram S, Zafar Y, Briddon RW (2004) First report of Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus affecting chili pepper in Pakistan. Plant Pathology 52, 809
- Jackson AO, Dietzgen RG, Goodin MM, Bragg JN, Deng M (2005) Biology of plant rhabdoviruses. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **43**, 623-660
- Jain R, Sharma J, Sivakumar A, Sharma P, Byadgi A, Verma A, Varma A (2004) Variability in the coat protein gene of *Papaya ringspot virus* isolates from multiple locations in India. *Archives of Virology* 149, 2435-2442
- Jain RK (2004) First report of occurrence of Papaya ring spot virus infecting papaya in Bangladesh. Plant Disease 88, 221
- Jain RK, Pappu HR, Varma A, Ram RD (1998) Molecular characterization of papaya ringspot potyvirus isolates from India. Annals of Applied Biology 132, 413-425
- Jensen DD (1949) Papaya virus diseases with special reference to papaya ringspot. *Phytopathology* 39, 191-211
- Kasschau KD, Carrington JC (1998) A counterdefensive strategy of plant viruses: Suppression of posttranscriptional gene silencing. *Cell* 95, 461-470
- Kawano S, Yonaha T (1992) The occurrence of Papaya leaf distortion mosaic virus in Okinawa. Technical Bulletin of the Food and Fertilizer Technology Center for the Asian and Pacific Region, Taipei 132, 13-23
- Khan MS, Raj SK, Singh R (2006) First report of *Tomato leaf curl New Delhi* virus infecting chili in India. *Plant Pathology* **55**, 289
- Khurana SMP (1975) Studies on three virus diseases of papaya in Gorakhpur, India. Proceedings of the XIX International Horticultural Congress, Warszawa, Poland 7, 260
- Kiritani K, Su HJ (1999) Papaya ring spot, Banana bunchy top, and Citrus greening in the Asia and Pacific Region: Occurrence and control strategy Japan Agricultural Research Quarterly 33, 5 pp
- Kitajima AEW, Sa PBD, Ritzinger CHSP, Rodrigues MDGR (1991) Rhabdovirus-like particles in some Compositae, squash and papaya. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 16, 141-144
- Kormelink R (2005) Tomato spotted wilt virus. In: CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses, no. 412, Wageningen University, The Netherlands, 8 pp
- Lambe RC (1963) Terminal necrosis and wilt of papayas. Journal of the Rio Grande Valley Horticultural Society 17, 128-129
- Lana AF (1980) Transmission and properties of viruses isolated from Carica papaya in Nigeria. Journal of Horticultural Science 55, 191-197
- Larsen RC, Miklas PN, Druffel KL, Wyatt SD (2005) NL-3 K strain is a stable and naturally occurring interspecific recombinant derived from *Bean* common mosaic necrosis virus and *Bean* common mosaic virus. Phytopathology 95, 1037-1042
- Lastra R, Quintero E (1981) *Papaya apical necrosis*, a new disease associated with a rhabdovirus. *Plant Disease* 65, 439-440
- Lazarowitz SG (1992) Geminiviruses: Genome structure and gene function. CRC Critical Reviews in Plant Science 11, 327-349
- Lecoq H, Dafalla G, Delecolle B, Lanina T, Ullah Z, Grumet R (2001) Biological and molecular characterization of Moroccan watermelon mosaic virus and a potyvirus isolate from Eastern Sudan. *Plant Disease* 85, 547-552
- Lima, RCA, Souza Jr. MT, Pio-Ribeiro G, Lima JAA (2002) Sequences of the coat protein gene from Brazilian isolates of *Papaya ringspot virus*. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 27, 174-180
- Lines R, Persley D, Dale J, Drew R, Bateson M (2002) Genetically engi-

neered immunity to *Papaya ringspot virus* in Australian papaya cultivars. *Molecular Breeding* **10**, 119-129

- Lisa V, Lecoq H (1984) Zucchini yellow mosaic virus. In: CMI/AAB Descr. Pl. Viruses No. 282, 4 pp
- Loreto T, Vital A, Rezende J (1983) Ocorrência de um amarelo letal no mamoeiro solo no estado de Pernambuco. *Biológico (São Paulo)* 49, 275-279 (in Portuguese)
- Maciel-Zambolim E, Kunieda-Alonso S, Matsuoka K, de Carvalho MG, Zerbini FM (2003) Purification and some properties of *Papaya meleira* virus, a novel virus infecting papayas in Brazil. *Plant Pathology* 52, 389-394
- Madrigal LS, Ortiz AN, Cooke RD, Fernandez RH (1980) The dependence of crude papain yields on different collection ('tapping') procedures for papaya latex. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 31, 279-285
- Magdalita PM, Adkins SW, Goodwin ID, Drew RA (1996) An improved embryo-rescue protocol for a *Carica* interspecific hybrid. *Australian Journal of Botany* 44, 1-11
- Magdalita PM, Bayot RG, Villegas VN (1990) Diplocyclos palmatus L. Jeffrey: A new weed host of Papaya ringspot virus. Philippine Journal of Crop Science 15, 163-168
- Magdalita PM, Drew RA, Goodwin ID, Adkins SW (1998) An efficient interspecific hybridisation protocol for Carica papaya L. × C. cauliflora Jacq. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 38, 523-530
- Magdalita PM, Persley DM, Goodwin ID, Drew RA, Adkins SW (1997) Screening *Carica papaya* x *C. cauliflora* hybrids for resistance to *Papaya ringspot virus*-type-P. *Plant Pathology* **46**, 837-841
- Mandahar C (1999) Molecular Biology of Plant Viruses, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Norwell, MA (USA), 320 pp
- Manshardt RM (1992) Papaya. In: Hammerschlag FA, Litz RE (Eds) Biotechnology in Agriculture No. 8. Biotechnology of Perennial Fruit Crops, CABI, Wallingford, pp 489-511
- Mansoor S, Briddon RW, Bull SE, Bedford ID, Bashir A, Hussain M, Saeed M, Zafar Y, Malik KA, Fauquet C, Markham PG (2003) Cotton leaf curl disease is associated with multiple monopartite begomoviruses supported by a single DNAβ. Archives of Virology 148, 1969-1986
- Mansoor S, Khan SH, Hussain M, Mushtaq N, Zafar N, Malik KA (2000) Evidence that watermelon leaf curl disease in Pakistan is associated with *Tomato leaf curl virus* - India. *Plant Disease* 84, 102
- Maoka T, Hataya T (2005) The complete nucleotide sequence and biotype variability of Papaya leaf distortion mosaic virus. *Phytopathology* 95, 128-135
- Maoka T, Kashiwazaki S, Tsuda S, Usugi T, Hibino H (1996) Nucleotide sequence of the capsid protein gene of *Papaya leaf distortion mosaic potyvirus*. *Archives of Virology* **141**, 197-204
- Maoka T, Kawano S, Usugi T (1995) Occurrence of the P strain of Papaya ringspot virus in Japan. Annals of the Phytopathological Society, Japan 61, 34-37
- Marte R (1993) Production of Papaya In: Proceedings the Papaya and Mango Seminar, Kingston, Jamaica, March 10-11, 1993, pp 1-9
- Martelli GP, Russo RE (1976) Unusual cytoplasmic inclusions induced by Watermelon mosaic virus. Virology 72, 352-362
- Maruthi MN, Rekka AR, Cork A, Colvin J, Alam SN, Kader A (2005) First report of *Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus* infecting tomato in Bangladesh. *Plant Disease* **89**, 1011
- Marys E, Carballo O, Izaguirre-Mayoral ML (1995) Properties of a previously undescribed supercoiled filamentous virus infecting papaya in Venezuela. Archives of Virology 140, 891-898
- Marys EE, Carballo O, Izaguirre-Mayoral ML (2000) Occurrence and relative incidence of viruses infecting papaya in Venezuela. Annals of Applied Biology 136, 121-124
- Mayo MA, Pringle CR (1998) Virus taxonomy-1997. Journal of General Virology 79, 649-657
- McLean DM, Olson EO (1962) Symptoms of *Tobacco ringspot* on papaya. Plant Disease Reporter 46, 882
- Mejías Y, Rodríguez D, González G (1987) Rhabdovirus asociado a síntomas de necrosis apical en fruta bomba Carica papaya en Cuba. Ciencia y Tecnología Agrícola, Protección de Plantas 10, 57-62
- Milne RG (1988) The Filamentous Plant Viruses. In: Milne RG (Ed) *The Plant Viruses* (Vol 4), Plenum Press, New York pp 3
- Morton J (1987) Papaya in Fruits of Warm Climates. Available online:
- http://www.hort.purdue.edu/newcrop/morton/papaya\_ars.html, pp 336-346
  Muller A (1941) El reconocimiento de las enfermedades de las plantas cultivadas en Venezuela, 1937-1941. Boletín de la Sociedad Venezolana de Ciencias Naturales 7, 99-113
- Nakagawa J, Takayawa Y, Suzukawa Y (1987) Exudação do látex pelo mamoeiro. Estudo de ocorrência em Teixeira de Freitas, BA. In Congresso Brasileiro de Fruticultura 9 1987, Campinas-SP, SBF. Anis. Campinas-SP: ABF/ UNICAMP, pp 555-559
- Noa-Carrazana JC, González-de-León D, Ruiz-Castro BS, Piñero D, Silva-Rosales L (2006) Distribution of Papaya ringspot virus and Papaya mosaic virus in papaya plants (Carica papaya) in Mexico. Plant Disease 90, 1004-1011
- Noa-Carrazana JC, González-de-León D, Silva-Rosales L (2007) Molecular characterization of a severe isolate of *Papaya ringspot virus* in Mexico and

its relationship with other isolates. Virus Genes 35, 109-117

- Noa-Carrazana JC, Silva-Rosales L (2001) First report of a Mexican isolate of *Papaya mosaic virus* in papaya (*Carica papaya*) and pumpkin (*Cucurbita pepo*). *Plant Disease* 85, 558
- Noé-Becerra E, Cárdenas E, Lozoya H, Mosqueda R (1999) Rhabdovirus en papayo (*Carica papaya* l.) en el sureste de México. Agronomía Mesoamericana 10, 85-90
- **OECD** (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) (2003). Draft Consensus Document on the Biology of *Carica papaya* (L.) (Papaya). Report No. 5 Febr. 2003, OECD, France, 18 pp
- Padidam M, Beachy RN, Fauquet CM (1995) Tomato leaf curl geminivirus from India has a bipartite genome and coat protein is not essential for infectivity. Journal of General Virology 76, 25-35
- Palukaitis P, García-Arenal F (2003) Cucumber mosaic virus. In: CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses, no. 400, Wageningen University, the Netherlands, pp 241-323
- Parameswari B, Mangrauthia SK, Praveen S, Jain RK (2007) Complete genome sequence of an isolate of *Papaya ringspot virus* from India. Archives in Virology 152, 843-845
- Parrella G, Gognalons P, Gebre-Selassie K, Vovlas C, Marchoux G (2003) An update of the host range of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*. Journal of Plant Pathology 85, 227-264
- Pereira G (2003) Melhoramento genético do mamoeiro (*Carica papaya* L.): desenvolvimento e recomendação de híbridos. In: FEITOSA, C. Seahortes. Alegre: CCA-UFES, 2003, pp 61-65
- Pessini-Rodrigues S (2006) Interação entre o Papaya meleira virus (PMeV) e o mamoeiro (Carica papaya L.). Master Thesis, Universidade Federale do Espírito Santo, Vitória, Brazil, 107 pp
- Phillips S, Brunt AAA, Beczner L (1985) The recognition of boussingaultia mosaic virus as a strain of Papaya mosaic virus. Acta Horticulturae 164, 379-383
- Pirone TP, Blanc S (1996) Helper-dependent vector transmission of plant viruses. Annual Review of Phytopathology 34, 227-247
- Pourrahim R, Farzadfar SH, Golnaraghi AR, Shahraeen N (2003) First report of Papaya ringspot virus on papaya in Iran. Plant Disease 87, 1148
- Prasartsee V, Kongpolprom W, Wichainun S, Fukiatpaiboon A, Gonsalves C, Gonsalves D (1995) Thapra 1, Thapra 2, and Thapra 3: Papaya lines that are tolerant to *Papaya ringspot virus*. Brochure, Thailand, 8 pp
- Pruss G, Ge X, Shi XM, Carrington JC, Vance VB (1997) Plant viral synergism: The potyviral genome encodes a broad range pathogenicity enhancer that transactivates replication of heterologous viruses. *Plant Cell* 9, 859-868
- Purcifull DE, Edwardson JR (1967) Watermelon mosaic virus: tubular inclusion in pumpkin leaves and aggregates in leaf extracts. Virology 32, 393-401
- Purcifull DE, Edwardson JR, Christie RG (1966) Electron microscopy of intracellular aggregates in pea (*Pisum sativum*) infected with *Clover yellow* mosaic virus. Virology 29, 276-284
- Purcifull DE, Edwardson JR, Hiebert E, Gonsalves D (1984) Papaya ringspot virus. In: Coronel RE (Ed) CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses, no. 292. (Vol 2), Wageningen University, the Netherlands, 8 pp
- Quiot-Douine L, Lecoq G, Quiot JB, Pitrat M, Labonne G (1990) Serological and biological variability of virus isolates related to strains of *Papaya ring-spot virus*. *Phytopathology* **80**, 256-263
- Raja V, AbouHaidar MG (2006) Development of vaccine for "hepatitis C" (*Papaya mosaic virus* as an expression vector for foreign epitopes). *Retrovirology* **3**, p 52
- Rajapakse RH, Herath HM (1981) Host susceptibility of the Papaya mosaic virus in Sri Lanka. Beitrage Zur Tropischen Landwirtschaft Und Veterinarmedeizen 19, 429-432
- Reiger M (2006) Papaya (*Carica papaya*). In: Rieger M (Ed) Introduction to Fruit Crops, Haworth Food and Agricultural Products Press, NY, pp 301-310
- Revers F, Le Gall O, Candresse T, Maule A (1999) New advances in understanding the molecular biology of plant/potyvirus interactions. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 12, 367-376
- Rezende JAM, Costa AS (1987) Four viruses infecting papaya plants experimentally. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 12, 63-65
- Riechmann JL, Laín S, García AJ (1992) Highlights and prospects of potyvirus molecular biology. *Journal of General Virology* **73**, 1-16
- Robinson DJ (2003) Tobacco rattle virus. In: CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses, no. 398, Wageningen University, the Netherlands, 6 pp
- **Robinson DJ, Harrison BD** (1989) *Pepper ringspot virus*. In: *CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses*, no. 347, Wageningen University, the Netherlands, 4 pp
- Roggero P, Dellaville G, Lisa V (1998) First report of Moroccan watermelon mosaic potyvirus in zucchini in Italy. *Plant Disease* 82, 351
- Rojas MR, Gilbertson RL, Russell, DR, Maxwell DP (1993) Use of degenerate primers in the polymerase chain reaction to detect whitefly-transmitted geminiviruses. *Plant Disease* **77**, 340-347
- Rowhani A, Peterson JF (1980) Characterization of a flexuous rod-shaped virus from *Plantago*. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* **2**, 12-18
- Roye ME, Brown S, Spence JD, Smith K, McLaughlin WA (2003) Ten years of molecular biology research on whitefly transmitted geminivirus from Jamaica: A review. *Jamaican Journal of Science and Technology* 14, 98-118
- Roye ME, Collins AM, Maxwell DP (2006) The first report of a Begomovirus

associated with the common weed Jatropha gossypifolia in Jamaica. Plant Pathology 55, 286

- Roye ME, McLaughlin WA, Nakhla MK, Maxwell DP (1997) Genetic diversity among geminiviruses associated with the weed species, *Sida* spp., *Macroptilium lathyroides*, and *Wissadula amplissima* from Jamaica. *Plant Dis ease* **81**, 1251-1258
- Saeed A, Waheed Akhter M, Iqbal M (2006) Removal and recovery of heavy metals from aqueous solution using papaya wood as a new biosorbent. Separation and Purification Technology 45, 25-31
- Sankat CK, Maharaj R (1997) Papaya. In: Mitra S (Ed) Postharvest Physiology and Storage of Tropical and Subtropical Fruits, CAB International, UK, pp 167-189
- Santa Cruz S, Roberts AG, Prior DA, Chapman S, Parka KJ (1998) Cell-tocell and phloem-mediated transport of *Potato virus X*. The role of virions. *Plant Cell* **10**, 495-510
- Saraiva ACM, de Paiva WO, Rabelo-Filho FAC, Limas JAA (2006) Transmission by contaminated hands and absence of embryonary seed transmission of *Papaya lethal yellowing virus*. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 31, 79-83
- Saxena S, Hallan V, Singh BP, Sane PV (1997) Leaf curl disease of Carica papaya from India may be caused a bipartite geminivirus. Plant Disease 82, 126
- Saxena S, Hallan V, Singh BP, Sane PV (1998) Evidence from nucleic acid hybridization test for a geminivirus infection causing leaf curl disease of papaya in India. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* 36, 229-232
- Scott SW (2001) Tobacco streak virus. In: Descriptions of Plant Viruses. Available online: http://www.dpvweb.net/index.php
- Shi XM, Miller H, Verchot J, Carrington JC, Vance VB (1997) Mutations in the region encoding the central domain of helper component-proteinase (HC-Pro) eliminate *Potato virus X*/potyviral synergism. *Virology* 231, 35-42
- Shih SL, Tsai WS, Green SK (2003) Molecular characterization of tomato and chili leaf curl begomoviruses from Pakistan. *Plant Disease* **87**, 200
- Shulka D, Ward C, Brunt A (1994) Coat protein structure and function. In: *The Potyviridae*. CAB International, Wallington, UK pp 113-148
- Silva AMR (2001) Caracterização do genoma do Papaya lethal yellowing virus e estudo da regulação gênica do Tomato bushy stunt virus. PhD Thesis, Universidade de Brasilia, Brasilia, Brazil, 135 pp
- Silva AMR, Kitajima EW, Sousa MV, Resende RO (1997) Papaya lethal yellowing virus: A possible member of the Tombusvirus genus. Fitopatologia Brasileira 22, 529-534
- Silva-Rosales L, Becerra-Leor N, Ruiz-Castro S, Teliz-Ortiz D, Noa-Carrazana J (2000) Coat protein sequence comparison of three Mexican isolates of *Papaya ringspot virus* with other geographical isolates reveal a close relationship to American and Australian isolates. *Archives of Virology* 145, 835-843
- Singh I (1990) *Papaya*, Oxford and IBH Publishing Co. Pvt Ltd, New Delhi, 224 pp
- Sit TL, Abouhaidar MG, Holy S (1989) Nucleotide sequence of Papaya mosaic virus RNA. Journal of General Virology 70, 2325-2331
- Smith IM (2004) Data sheets on quarantine pests: *Tobacco ringspot nepovirus*. Prepared by CABI and EPPO for the EU under Contract 90/399003, 5 pp
- Sohrab SS, Mandal B, Pant RP, Varma A (2003) First report of association of Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus with yellow mosaic disease of Luffa cylindrica in India. Plant Disease 87, 1148
- Stace-Smith R (1985) Tobacco ringspot virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of plant viruses. In: CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses, no.309, Wageningen University, the Netherlands, 6 pp
- Starley IF, Mohammed P, Schneider G, Bickler SW (1999) The treatment of paediatric burns using topical papaya. *Burns* 25, 636-639
- Story R (2002) Aloha Seed and Herb. Available online: http://www. alohaseed.com/papaya.html
- Taylor DR (2004) Virus diseases of *Carica papaya* in Africa their distribution, importance, and control (In Plant virology in sub-Saharan Africa). IITA Conference Proceedings (http://www.iita.org/cms/details/virology/virology. htm), pp 25-32
- Tennant PF, Ahmad MH, Gonsalves D (2005) Field resistance of coat protein transgenic papaya to Papaya ringspot virus in Jamaica. Plant Disease 89, 841-847
- Tennant PF, Gonsalves C, Ling KS, Fitch M, Manshardt RM, Slightom J, Gonsalves D (1994) Differential protection against *Papaya ringspot virus* isolates in coat protein transgenic papaya and classically cross-protected papaya. *Phytopathology* **84**, 1359-1366
- Thomas JE, Dodman RL (1993) The first record of *Papaya ringspot virus-*p in Australia. *Australian Plant Pathology* 22, 2-7
- Tremblay MH, Majeau N, Gagné ME, Lecours K, Morin H, Duvignaud JB, Bolduc M, Chouinard N, Pare C, Gagné S, Leclerc D (2007) Effect of mutations K97A and E128A on RNA binding and self assembly of *Papaya* mosaic potexvirus coat protein. Federation of European Biochemical Soci-

eties Journal 273, 14-25

- Umi K, Bakar A, Pillai V, Hashim M, Daud HM (2005) Sharing Malaysian experience with the development of biotechnology-derived food crops. *Food* and Nutrition Bulletin 26, 432-435
- Urcuqui-Inchima S, Haenni AL, Bernardi F (2001) *Potyvirus* proteins: a wealth of functions. *Virus Research* 74, 157-175
- Usharani KS, Surendranath B, Paul-Khurana SM, Garg ID, Malathi VG (2004) Potato leaf curl- a new disease of potato in northern India caused by a strain of *Tomato leaf curl New Delhi virus. Plant Pathology* **53**, 235
- Valli A, López-Moya JJ, García JA (2007) Recombination and gene duplication in the evolutionary diversification of P1 proteins in the family *Potyviridae. Journal of General Virology* 88, 1016-1028
- Van der Meer FW, Garnett HM (1987) Purification and identification of a South African isolate of Watermelon mosaic virus-Morocco. Journal of Phytopathology 120, 255-270
- Vance VB, Berger PH, Carrington JC, Hunt AG, Shi XM (1995) 5' proximal potyviral sequences mediate *Potato virus X*/potyviral synergistic disease in transgenic tobacco. *Virology* 206, 583-590
- Vegas A, Trujillo G, Marys E, González A, Fermín G, Cermeli M (2004) El Virus de la mancha anillada de la lechosa en Venezuela: descripción e importancia, medidas de prevención y control. CENIAP Hoy (6). Available online: http://www.ceniap.gov.ve/pbd/RevistasTecnicas/ceniaphoy/articulos/n6/arti/v egas a/arti/vegas a.htm
- Ventura JA, Costa H, da Silva Tatagiba J (2004) Papaya diseases and integrated control. In: Naqvi SAMH (Ed) *Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables* (Vol II) Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, pp 201-268
- Verchot-Lubicz J (2005) A new model for cell-to-cell movement of potexviruses. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18, 282-290
- Verchot-Lubicz J, Ye CM, Bamunusinghe D (2007) Molecular biology of potexviruses: recent advances. *Journal of General Virology* 88, 1643-1655
- Voinnet O, Lederer C, Baulcombe DC (2000) A viral movement protein prevents spread of the gene silencing signal in *Nicotiana benthamiana*. Cell 103, 157-167
- Wan SH, Conover RA (1981) A rhabdovirus associated with a new disease of Florida papayas. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 94, 318-321
- Wan SH, Conover RA (1983) Incidence and distribution of papaya viruses in southern Florida. *Plant Disease* 67, 353-356
- Wang CH, Bau HJ, Yeh SD (1994) Comparison of the nuclear inclusion b protein and coat protein genes of five *Papaya ringspot virus* strains distinct in geographic origin and pathogenicity. *Phytopathology* 84, 1205-1210
- Wang CH, Yeh SD (1992) Nucleotide comparison of the 3'-terminal regions of severe, mild and non-papaya infecting strains of *Papaya ringspot virus*. Archives of Virology 127, 345-354
- Wang CH, Yeh SD (1997) Divergence and conservation of the genomic RNAs of Taiwan and Hawaii strains of *Papaya ringspot potyvirus*. Archives of Virology 142, 271-285
- Wang X, Xie Y, Zhou X (2004) Molecular characterization of two distinct begomoviruses from papaya in China. *Virus Genes* 29, 303-309
- Wang, HK, Wang CC, Chiu RJ, Sun HM (1978) Preliminary study on Papaya ringspot virus in Taiwan. Plant Protection Bulletin 20, 133-140
- Wimalawansa SJ (1981) Papaya in the treatment of chronic infected ulcers. Ceylon Medical Journal 26, 129-132
- Wu CZ, Zhou XP (2006) First report of Malvastrum leaf curl virus infecting papaya. Journal of Plant Pathology 88, 342
- Yeh SD, Gonsalves D (1984) Purification and immunological analyses of cylindrical-inlcusion protein induced by *Papaya ringspot virus* and *Watermelon mosaic virus I. Phytopathology* 74, 1273-1278
- Yeh SD, Gonsalves D, Wang HL, Namba R, Chiu RJ (1988) Control of Papaya ringspot virus by cross protection. Plant Disease 72, 375-382
- Yeh SD, Jan FJ, Chiang CH, Doong TJ, Chen MC, Chung PH, Bau HJ (1992) Complete nucleotide sequence and genetic organization of *Papaya* ringspot virus RNA. Journal of General Virology **73**, 2531-2541
- Yonaha T (1976) Viruses isolated from papaya in Okinawa (Japan). In: Properties of Papaya ringspot virus. Bulletin of the College Agriculture University of Ryukyus 23, 115-124
- Zettler FW, Edwardson JR, Purcifull DE (1968) Ultramicroscopic differences in inclusions of *Papaya mosaic virus* and *Papaya ringspot virus* correlated with differential aphid transmission. *Phytopathology* **58**, 332-335
- Zettler FW, Wan SH (1994) Papaya droopy necrosis and papaya apical necrosis. In: Ploetz RC, Zentmyer GA, Nishijima WT, Rohrbach KG, Ohr HD (Eds) Compendium of Tropical Fruit Diseases, APS Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 66-67
- Zhang W, Olson NH, Baker TS, Faulkner L, Agbandje-Mckenna M, Boulton MI, Davies JW, Mckenna R (2001) Structure of the *Maize streak virus* geminate particle. *Virology* 279, 471-477